

Expanding High-Quality Educational Options for All Students

How States Can Create a System of Schools Worth Choosing

By Linda Darling-Hammond, Robert Rothman, and Peter W. Cookson, Jr.



Expanding High-Quality Educational Options for All Students

How States Can Create a System of Schools Worth Choosing

By Linda Darling-Hammond, Robert Rothman, and Peter W. Cookson, Jr.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank LPI colleague Patrick M. Shields for providing helpful input to this report. In addition, thanks are due to Gretchen Wright, Aaron Reeves, and Naomi Spinrad for their editing and design contributions to this project, and to Lisa Gonzales for overseeing the editorial and production processes. Without their generosity of time and spirit, this work would not have been possible.

Core operating support for the Learning Policy Institute is provided by the Sandler Foundation, the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, and the Ford Foundation. This work does not necessarily represent the views of these funders.

External Reviewers

This report benefited from the insights and expertise of three external reviewers: Luis Huerta, Associate Professor of Education and Public Policy at Teachers College, Columbia University; Amy Stuart Wells, Professor of Sociology and Education at Teachers College, Columbia University and President-Elect of the American Educational Research Association; and Samantha Tankersley, Policy Analyst at the National Governors Association. We thank them for the care and attention they gave the report, which was greatly improved by their comments.

The appropriate citation for this report is: Darling-Hammond, L., Rothman, R. & Cookson, P. W., Jr. (2017). *Expanding high-quality educational options for all students: How states can create a system of schools worth choosing*. Palo Alto, CA: Learning Policy Institute.

This report can be found online at https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/expanding-high-quality-options.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution—NonCommercial 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	v
Introduction	1
What Kinds of Educational Choices Exist in the U.S.?	2
Providing Choice Options Within Public School Districts	4
Open Enrollment: Intradistrict and Interdistrict Choice	
Magnet Schools	
Schools Based on Distinct Educational Models	
Dual Enrollment/Early College	8
Providing Choice Options Through Charter Schools	10
Description of Charters	10
Charter Outcomes	
Policies Addressing Charter Challenges	13
Public Funding to Attend Private Schools	15
Voucher Programs	15
Tax Credits or Deductions	16
Education Savings Accounts	17
Homeschooling	
Key Policy Considerations	21
High-Quality Neighborhood Schools	21
Introdictvict and Interdictvict Obside Options	21
Intradistrict and Interdistrict Choice Options	
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options	
	22
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options	22 22
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options Charter Schools Virtual Schools Private School Options	22 22 23 23
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options Charter Schools Virtual Schools Private School Options Homeschooling	22 22 23 23 23
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options Charter Schools Virtual Schools Private School Options	22 22 23 23 23
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options Charter Schools Virtual Schools Private School Options Homeschooling	22 22 23 23 23 23 24
Dual Enrollment and Early College Options Charter Schools Virtual Schools Private School Options Homeschooling Research	22 22 23 23 23 24 24

Executive Summary

This report examines current educational options for U.S. students and the challenges of ensuring that choices are equally available and offer high-quality education. The report suggests what state policymakers can do to create high-quality opportunities that offer each family a system of schools worth choosing.

The analysis starts from the assumption that school choice policy is a means to an end and not an end itself. The goals of our education system include improving student learning opportunities, strengthening educational attainment, providing alternatives that fit student needs, and integrating our diverse citizenry, while preparing young people for their civic roles in a democracy. As we present information about the range of choices available to families within the public and private sectors, we also indicate where research has found that various approaches influence these desired outcomes of education in a democratic society.

What School Choices Are Available?

U.S. students and their families have many educational choices available to them, and the range of options has increased over the past two decades. Although we often associate the term "choice" with privately governed charter schools or private school voucher proposals, the vast majority of schools of choice are operated by public school districts (see Table 1). Since the 1960s, districts have sponsored alternatives such as magnets and other innovative schools.

In 2012, 37.3% of parents of students in grades 1–12 indicated that public school choice was available to them. More than three fourths of all parents said their child's current school was their first choice, including 77.5% of parents of students who were placed in their district-assigned schools. About 19% of parents with children in public schools said they had moved to their neighborhood to attend its schools.

About 6.5 million (15.4%) of all public school students enrolled in a school of their choice other than their assigned school. Magnet schools enrolled 2.6 million students and charter schools a similar number (2.7 million). A wide range of other schools of choice—theme schools, career academies, and open-enrollment options—accounted for the remaining 1.2 million students.

Private schools enroll about 9% of all students and, as shown in Table 1, a number of states offer financial subsidies for parents who send their children to private schools, including education vouchers, education savings accounts, and tax credits or deductions for private school costs.

Table 1Public and Private School Choice Options

	Type of Choice	Number of States	Number of Schools	Number of Students
Public Options	Public school students with choice options*	22 intradistrict 25 interdistrict	N/A	18.7 million
	District-run schools of choice*	At least 22	N/A	6.5 million
	Magnet schools**	N/A	3,285	2.6 million
	Postsecondary options***	N/A	15,000 high schools	1.3 million
	Charter schools**	44 plus DC	6,747	2.7 million
Private Options	Private schools+	50 plus DC	34,576	4.9 million
	Vouchers for private schools++	14 plus DC	N/A	179,000
	Tax credits or deductions++	8	N/A	880,000
	Education savings accounts++	6	N/A	11,500
	Homeschooling+++	50 plus DC	N/A	1.7 million

* National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Digest of education statistics: 2015. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

** National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Digest of education statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp; National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). *Digest of education statistics: 2016*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/di-gest/d16/_216.20.asp.

*** National Center for Education Statistics. (February 2013). Dual Enrollment Programs for High School Students at Postsecondary Institutions, 2010–11. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

+ National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). 2015–16 Private School Universe Survey. https://nces.ed.gov/-pubs2017/2017073.pdf.

++ EdChoice. (2017). Fast Facts. http://www.edchoice.org/our-resources/fast-facts. Participation rates as of 7/6/17 at https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/school-choice-in-america/#map-overlay.

+++ National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Homeschooling in the United States: 2012*. https://nces.ed.gov/-pubs2016/2016096rev.pdf.

How Can Policymakers Strengthen School Choices?

Expansions of choice have produced many positive opportunities for children, but evidence shows that simply providing choices does not automatically provide high-quality options that are accessible to all students or improve student learning. Here are some considerations for policymakers as they seek to expand high-quality education options within the public sector.

High-Quality Neighborhood Schools

Data show that when parents have choice options available, three quarters still choose their assigned school as their first choice. And when parents want to choose a different school, they often cite distance as a challenge. Districts cite transportation costs as an issue for choice plans that bus many children across large distances. Some districts have inadvertently created "educational deserts" as they have allowed schools of choice to locate and choose students without regard to

serving all neighborhoods. If the first, most desired option for most families is a neighborhood public school, planning for options should consider how to create high-quality options in all communities. To support this choice, policymakers can

- attend to community needs in planning for new schools and existing schools; and
- create processes for assessing and improving quality for schools that may be lagging, from school quality reviews that diagnose needs to investments in leadership and staffing, professional development, curriculum, and community school models that provide wraparound health and social services where students need them.

Intradistrict and Interdistrict Choice Options

Intradistrict and interdistrict choice plans have focused both on supporting desegregation and on creating innovative and distinctive school models—including magnet schools, themed schools (e.g., arts, law, health professions), language immersion schools, and innovative school models. Some of these models, such as Montessori schools, New Tech High Schools, Big Picture schools, and others, have created networks that extend across district and state lines.

Studies have found that many of these strategies have improved student achievement, and some have successfully increased school integration, but the outcomes depend on how well districts work to manage choice and to leverage strong school quality. In addition, as many school districts have become more segregated, interdistrict choice plans have often become more successful for desegregation. These choice strategies can expand high-quality options and serve the public purposes of education when

- districts work to ensure that many high-quality choices are available, and continually seek to improve schools so that no students are left in low-quality options;
- strong systems of information are readily available to parents;
- application processes are consolidated, not burdensome, and are equally accessible;
- choice is managed to support racial/ethnic and economic integration, both within and across district lines; and
- transportation is free and readily available.

Dual Enrollment and Early College Options

The rapidly growing practice of dual enrollment allows high school students to choose to take courses at the college level, either at a high school or college campus. More than 80% of high schools now offer these options. In addition, more than 200 Early College high schools across the country have created partnerships with colleges, enabling all of their students to earn as much as 2 years of credit toward a bachelor's degree by the time they graduate from high school. Students in these schools are more likely to graduate from high school, enroll in college, and complete college than comparison students.

States can expand and improve course-taking options for high school students, and improve the efficiency of their educational systems, by

• encouraging community colleges and 4-year colleges to partner with local high schools, as well as to offer distance learning courses to expand offerings to secondary students who are ready for more advanced learning opportunities;

- underwriting the costs of dual enrollment in college courses while students are still in high school;
- stimulating the creation of Early College programs through competitive grants or availability of seed money; and
- ensuring that all students have access to the prerequisite coursework in middle and high school.

Charter Schools

Charter schools have expanded rapidly in recent years, with significant investments from the federal government and foundations. Some very successful initiatives exist, yet results overall are mixed. State regulation of charters varies considerably and is associated with very different charter outcomes from state to state. Studies have found that outcomes are stronger where there are fewer authorizers under more stringent oversight, and where expectations for qualified staff, well-defined curriculum, and financial viability are enforced. In addition, charters overall serve fewer special education students and English language learners, and some have been found to exclude high-need students through the admissions process or through later expulsion or counseling out. Some states now also regulate equitable admissions and retention of students.

States and districts can improve the odds that charter schools will provide high-quality options to all students by:

- Having a small number of **authorizers** who are held to strong accountability standards. Typically, these are local education agencies and/or the state education agency operating under expectations that they will enforce state standards and monitor charter school practices and performance.
- Ensuring that charters must meet **standards for quality** pertaining to curriculum, instruction, and assessment; hiring qualified teachers; and requiring financial viability to be authorized or renewed. Some states also look for high levels of community and public support and demonstrations that the school has feasible plans for attaining high levels of achievement for students.
- Ensuring **access** by requiring student recruitment and retention plans, and monitoring access to and continuation in schools for students with disabilities, English learners, and students of varied racial/ethnic, economic, and educational backgrounds.
- Using a regular **reporting and review system** to ensure a reasonable standard of quality. For example, Connecticut requires an annual report on the condition of the school, including the educational progress of students, financial condition, a certified audit statement of all revenues and expenditures, accomplishment of the mission of the charter school, the racial and ethnic composition of the student body and efforts taken to increase that diversity, and best practices employed by the school that contribute significantly to the academic success of students.
- Prohibiting or placing clear restrictions and standards on **for-profit schools** to keep taxpayer funds for public purposes and to remove incentives for schools or educational management organizations to make a profit by restricting student services or denying access to children who are expensive to educate.

Virtual Schools

Online or virtual schools, the largest of which are for-profit charters, have also been growing rapidly. A recent CREDO study found that virtual charters had far lower achievement for their students in both mathematics and reading than traditional public schools serving similar students. The differences in student learning equated to a student losing half a year of learning in reading and a full year of learning in mathematics. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) data also show that 87% of virtual schools were identified as low-graduation-rate schools in 2013–14, with an average graduation rate of only 40%, less than half the national average rate of 82%. States differ as to whether they allow online or for-profit charters; some states prohibit them, while others have authorized many.

States that choose to authorize virtual or online schools can reduce the negative outcomes that have been recorded for this school sector and enhance the chances that these schools will provide productive options for students by

 maintaining additional special oversight for the operations of virtual/online schools, if they are authorized, so that students receive adequate support and services from a sufficient number of qualified staff with technology tools fully in place.

Of the 24 states that define or permit virtual charter schools, 20 include additional oversight for these schools. Since 2015, more than 20 state legislatures have introduced bills to strengthen review and accountability over the quality of courses, teachers, and student supports, as well as to protect the privacy of student data and limit profit-making and misreporting of student enrollment and attendance.

Private School Options

Fourteen states provide public funding for vouchers for students to attend private schools. Education tax credits, deductions, or education savings accounts have also been created in a few states to offset education costs, ranging from private school tuition to AP courses to college savings. Some of these programs are aimed at parents of students with disabilities. In 11 states, voucher programs are also aimed at students with disabilities. Other states limit vouchers to students from low-income families, students who had previously attended a public school, or students from certain geographical areas. States differ substantially in what they require of participating schools in terms of accreditation, accountability, or staff qualifications.

For many years, studies reported little difference in achievement for students using vouchers, with relatively small positive and negative results. Recently, however, several studies of large statewide programs in Indiana, Louisiana, and Washington, DC, found substantial negative effects on achievement for voucher students attending private schools compared to similar students in public schools. One of the studies from Louisiana found that one third of participating private schools had previously experienced enrollment declines, suggesting these schools may have been struggling before the voucher program and indicating the need to consider the quality of schools allowed to participate in such programs.

To support student outcomes, appropriate uses of public funds, and democratic goals, states can consider

- maintaining **standards of quality** for schools that are the recipients of these funds, through requirements for accreditation, staff qualifications, and curriculum plans, as well as information from assessments of student progress;
- ensuring **nondiscrimination standards** on the basis of race, class, gender and sexual orientation, and disability status for schools that are recipients of funds to protect civil rights of students and to discourage segregation or discrimination; and
- funding options that **advance state purposes**, like the provision of more specialized highquality services to students with disabilities, as some programs are designed to do, or the provision of opportunities for advanced study (such as AP courses) otherwise unavailable to students.

Homeschooling

All 50 states allow homeschooling. In general, states' concerns have to do with ensuring that all students are receiving an education that will allow them to fully participate in the economy and civic life, and that no students are failing to attend school due to neglect rather than parent engagement in their education. Some homeschooled students, especially those from more affluent homes, appear to achieve well, but the range of performance is extremely wide, and homeschooled students appear to be underrepresented in the college-going population. Research suggests that states can encourage responsible practice by

- requiring **registration or application** for homeschooling intentions, so that students not enrolled in school are expected to be under educational care;
- requiring **evidence of a structured program of study** that covers key aspects of curriculum, minimal qualifications from instructors, and some form of regular assessment of learning; and
- providing financial **support for districts that include homeschooled students** in aspects of the curriculum, students' services, or extracurricular activities.

Research

Sorting out how to provide students with excellent and equitable educational opportunities is no small feat in the complex world of education. States can better inform their efforts by

- using **high-quality research** that includes appropriate sampling strategies, comparison groups, and controls wherever possible when designing new policies to expand student learning opportunities and to advance other desirable goals such as desegregation; and
- including **research and evaluation requirements** in new policy initiatives and attending to the outcomes of research in reviewing and revising existing policies to better meet states' goals for high-quality education and equitable access.

Introduction

For many years, states and the federal government have been creating a range of schooling options for students, and the focus of the new administration on expanding choice is likely to accelerate this trend. This brief examines the status of current educational options for U.S. students and what state policymakers can do to create high-quality opportunities that offer each family a system of schools worth choosing.

"Choice" is a core American value that, along with freedom, defines a major part of our national value system. All of us want good choices in every aspect of our lives, including the schools we choose for our children. And our rhetorical commitment to equity should mean that we want good choices for other people's children as well. Evidence demonstrates that there are some excellent charter schools and private schools in the country, as well as a much larger number of district-run schools of choice in which children thrive.¹

Yet, given the inequalities in family circumstances, school funding, and access to quality teaching, choice can also raise some knotty and profound issues. What happens when choice initiatives create schools that are not worth choosing—or may even harm some students? Or when schools of choice will not "choose" students who are not sufficiently high-achieving, well supported at home, or otherwise viewed as a "fit" for the school? What are the implications for society and for families when public schools are allowed to exclude students who struggle to learn? Or when choice systems exacerbate racial and economic segregation? Can we design schools of choice that serve the broad purposes of public education?

Those purposes of public education—to prepare an educated citizenry for participation in democratic life and the nation's economy—require that schools provide equal access and opportunity to learn. Because we are a nation of immigrants, with many cultures and backgrounds, public schools have also had the mission of serving as an integrating force, to create common ground for all to live together productively.

In this report, we examine the role that state policy can play in creating a system of schools that serves these purposes—schools that are universally worth choosing and in which all students are chosen by good schools. We start from the assumption that school choice policy is a means to an end and not an end itself. The goals of our education system include improving student learning opportunities, strengthening educational attainment, providing alternatives that fit student needs, and integrating our diverse citizenry, all while preparing young people for their civic roles in a democracy.

As we present information about the range of choices available to families within the public and private sectors, we also indicate where research has found that various approaches influence these desired outcomes of education in a democratic society. We note that there are challenges in conducting and interpreting research on choice options that policymakers should be aware of as they seek to understand the effects of options on critical goals and as they shape policies that will achieve social goals for strong education for all children (see box on p. 20).

What Kinds of Educational Choices Exist in the U.S.?

U.S. students and their families have many educational choices available to them, and the range of options has increased over the past two decades. Private schools have been a traditional alternative to public school education, historically serving about 10% of U.S. children. Currently, private schools serve approximately 4.9 million students, or 9% of children in grades k-12.² This represents a decrease since 1999, when more than 11% of students were in private schools. A small share of private school students receives publicly funded vouchers: 179,000, far less than 1% of all students.³

Public and Private School Choice Options Number of Number of Number of Type of Choice States Schools Students Public school students with 22 intradistrict N/A 18.7 million choice options* 25 interdistrict **Public Options** District-run schools of At least 22 6.5 million N/A choice* Magnet schools** N/A 2.6 million 3.285 Postsecondary options*** N/A 15,000 high schools 1.3 million Charter schools** 44 plus DC 6,747 2.7 million 34,576 Private schools+ 50 plus DC 4.9 million Private Options Vouchers for private 14 plus DC N/A 179.000 schools++ Tax credits or deductions++ 8 N/A 880,000

Table 1

6

50 plus DC

Education savings

Homeschooling+++

accounts++

* National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Digest of education statistics: 2015. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

N/A

N/A

11,500

1.7 million

** National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Digest of education statistics: 2015. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp; National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). Digest of education statistics: 2016. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d16/ 216.20.asp.

*** National Center for Education Statistics. (February 2013). Dual Enrollment Programs for High School Students at Postsecondary Institutions, 2010-11. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

+ National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). 2015-16 Private School Universe Survey. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017073.pdf.

++ EdChoice. (2017). Fast Facts. http://www.edchoice.org/our-resources/fast-facts. Participation rates as of 7/6/17 at https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/school-choice-in-america/#map-overlay.

+++ National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Homeschooling in the United States: 2012. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016096rev.pdf.

According to NCES, most schools of choice are operated within the public sector (see Table 1).⁴ Although we often associate the term "choice" with privately governed charter schools or private school voucher proposals, the vast majority of schools of choice are operated by public school districts. Since the 1960s, districts have sponsored alternatives such as magnets, themed schools

(e.g., arts, law, health professions), language immersion schools, and networks of innovative school models, such as the Internationals Network for Public Schools, New Tech High Schools, Boston's Pilot Schools, and California's Linked Learning Academies.

As shown in Figure 1, in 2012, 37.3% of parents of students in grades 1–12—including three quarters of those who remained in their district-assigned school by choice—indicated that public school choice was available to them. More than three fourths of all parents said their child's school was their first choice, including 77.5% of parents of students who were placed in their district-assigned schools.⁵ About 19% of parents with children in public schools said they had moved to their neighborhood to attend its schools.⁶ This connects school choice with residential choice, by which parents with adequate means choose where they will live based on the quality of the neighborhood schools.⁷

About 6.5 million (15.4%) of all public school students enrolled in a school of their choice other than their assigned school.⁸ Magnet school enrollments accounted for about 40% of this number (2.6 million students), and a wide range of other schools of choice—theme schools, career academies, open-enrollment options—accounted for the remainder.⁹ About 2.7 million (5% of all students) chose charter schools, which are publicly funded but are generally privately operated.¹⁰ Most are run as nonprofit organizations with private governing boards; some are operated by public school districts and are under the aegis of the public school board. A small share (about 13% of all charter schools) are operated as private for-profit corporations.



Sources: National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Digest of education statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp; National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). *Digest of education statistics: 2016*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pro-grams/digest/d16/_216.20.asp.

Providing Choice Options Within Public School Districts

Some states have pioneered a variety of ways to provide choice for their students, with a number of goals in mind, ranging from greater equalization of opportunity and desegregation to options in educational philosophies and broader opportunities for particular advanced studies.

Open Enrollment: Intradistrict and Interdistrict Choice

The most popular form of school choice is open enrollment, which enables students to attend any public school in a district or state, regardless of residence. Currently, 22 states allow students to attend a non-assigned school within their district (intradistrict choice), and 25 states allow students to attend schools outside of their neighborhood district (interdistrict choice).¹¹ A majority of those states allow both forms of choice, and some additional states have permissive laws allowing districts to engage at their discretion in intradistrict or interdistrict choice.

Intradistrict choice. Many districts—such as New York City; San Francisco, CA; Minneapolis, MN; Montclair, NJ; and Boston, Cambridge, and Lynn, MA—have pioneered choice systems in which all parents choose schools, most of which are district-run, while students also have preferential access to a neighborhood school.

The earliest of these initiatives was launched in the 1970s as part of efforts to create new schools or redesign existing schools in order to personalize learning and offer engaging curricula. Other districts emulated these initiatives in the subsequent decades. These innovative schools were offered as choices, and eventually evolved into systems of universal choice in some cities. In other cities, choice was initiated primarily as part of desegregation efforts. In many cases, cities sought to pursue innovation and integration simultaneously, using approaches called Controlled Choice plans, with the choice process centrally managed to support racial and economic integration, as the district works to continually improve all the schools in the system.

Some of these efforts have been documented as having produced strong results for student achievement and attainment.¹² These results are typically attributed to new designs created by the schools of choice to personalize instruction for students. These have often featured smaller school sizes and new structures, such as advisory systems, that allow longer, stronger relationships among adults and students, as well as engaging pedagogies, such as project-based learning, with strong support systems.

Intradistrict choice became a feature of federal law in 2001 with the passage of the No Child Left Behind Act. Under that law, schools that failed In many cases, cities sought to pursue innovation and integration simultaneously, using approaches called Controlled Choice plans, with the choice process centrally managed to support racial and economic integration, as the district works to continually improve all the schools in the system.

to make adequate yearly progress on state tests for 2 years in a row were required to provide their students the option of transferring to a higher performing school within the same district. However, only about 1% of eligible students—approximately 38,000—took advantage of that option.¹³

Interdistrict choice. States have also adopted policies allowing students to transfer to schools outside of their districts. In such programs, per-pupil funding usually follows the student from the sending district to the receiving district. However, most states have restrictions on both sending and receiving districts. For example, some programs only allow transfers if they enhance desegregation. In some cases, districts can opt out from receiving students if they lack space for new students. States also allow or require districts to give priority to certain students, such as siblings of enrolled students, children of teachers in the district, or students moving from low-performing schools. Districts can bar transfers if they interfere with desegregation remedies. In Texas, districts must conduct a lottery if more students apply than space allows.

A study of open-enrollment plans in Colorado and Minnesota found that they can be quite popular. In Colorado, 51,000 students, or 6% of total enrollment, enrolled in a nonresident district that year.¹⁴ In Minnesota, 38,000 students, or 5% of total enrollment, enrolled in a nonresident district in 2006–07. That was more than the number of students enrolled in charter schools in Minnesota that year. About one third of Minnesota parents' decisions were found to be segregative, while others enhanced integration or maintained existing balances.¹⁵

Some interdistrict open-enrollment plans are specifically aimed at promoting desegregation. Interdistrict approaches are important for this purpose because more than 80% of racial/ethnic segregation in U.S. public schools occurs between rather than within school districts,¹⁶ and income groups are also increasingly geographically divided.¹⁷

For example, since the 1960s, Massachusetts has operated a grant program, known as the Metropolitan Council for Educational Opportunity (METCO), that allows students from Boston and Springfield, who are primarily students of color, to transfer to suburban districts. Minnesota has operated a choice program that emphasizes similar goals but is not limited to students of color. Students can transfer from Minneapolis to outlying suburbs or from suburbs to magnet schools in the city. An evaluation of this program found positive achievement outcomes for both groups of students compared to similar students who did not participate.¹⁸

In addition to the Massachusetts and Minnesota programs, at least six other metropolitan areas have established interdistrict school choice desegregation plans through legislation or as a result of a court order. A recent review of research on these programs found that they not only decrease segregation, they also help close racial achievement gaps, while improving racial attitudes, especially among Whites, and leading to long-term mobility and further education for the students of color who participate.¹⁹

Magnet Schools

Similarly, magnet schools were started in the 1970s as a way to bring about voluntary desegregation. Districts created schools that drew students from outside zoned school boundaries in order to reduce racial isolation without resorting to busing or other mandatory measures. Sometimes these policies were designed to curb "white flight" from desegregating districts, and sometimes they were designed to pull students of different races into otherwise segregated neighborhoods. Houston's School of Visual and Performing Arts, which opened in the early 1970s, was the first to call itself a "magnet." The magnets that draw students are programs that appeal to students' special academic and career interests. Magnets can be found from elementary through high school.

Today, there are roughly 3,400 magnet schools nationwide with 2.6 million students—about as many students as attend charter schools. The states with the most magnet schools are Michigan, Florida, California, and Texas. More than half of large urban school districts have magnet school programs. Some magnet schools are established by school districts, while others function across districts. For example, Connecticut has established more than 50 interdistrict magnet schools in metropolitan Hartford, New Haven, and Waterford to comply with a statewide desegregation case. The schools draw from multiple districts to provide racially diverse educational settings.²⁰

Well-integrated magnet schools appear to be strongly attractive, with research finding that those magnet schools reporting increasing levels of racial diversity over a 10-year period had the highest levels of parental demand.

Although magnets were originally developed to enhance racial integration, and many have done so, this goal is more likely to be achieved when new magnet schools with particularly attractive instructional programs are created in strategic locations that can draw on demographically diverse families. In many regions, this requires cross-district initiatives, given racial segregation within districts. For example, one recent study comparing enrollments of schools that converted from neighborhood schools to intradistrict magnets found that while the schools attracted more students from outside the neighborhood, their racial and income composition often remained the same, in part as a result of the intensified residential segregation that has occurred.²¹

In part because of their greater presence in urban areas, magnets enroll a higher percentage of students from low-income families and students of color than other schools. About one third of students in magnet schools are African American, compared with 16% in public schools overall, and 29% are Latino, compared with 20% in public schools overall. More than half of magnet school students are eligible for free and reduced-price lunches, which is now true of the public education system generally.²²

Section 5301 of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), which provides for the Magnet Schools Assistance program, is currently funded at \$97 million annually, which represents a substantial decrease over time. Lack of funding may be related to the fact that demand for such schools has outpaced supply. According to a 2011 survey of magnet schools receiving federal funding, nearly three quarters of magnet schools were oversubscribed.

Well-integrated magnet schools appear to be strongly attractive. An earlier study found that those magnet schools reporting increasing levels of racial diversity over a 10-year period had the highest levels of parental demand.²³ About 82% of these schools reported that students from outside the district were allowed to attend their schools, up from 76% a few years earlier, suggesting the possibility of a growing emphasis on interdistrict choice. Nearly 85% of respondents reported that magnet school programs conducted special outreach to raise awareness about magnet options, and 70% indicated that free transportation was provided to students.²⁴

A number of studies of magnet schools in California, Connecticut, and elsewhere have found positive effects on student achievement, graduation rates, student motivation and satisfaction with school, intergroup relationships, teacher motivation and morale, and parent satisfaction with the school.²⁵ Although a number of the court orders that stimulated open-enrollment plans and magnet school programs have since ended,²⁶ states and districts have continued many initiatives because of the benefits they bring for school quality and family commitment, as well as for integration.

Schools Based on Distinct Educational Models

Other schools of choice are based on a common educational model or philosophy, often organized through a network of schools that may cross district or state lines. These may include long-standing models such as Montessori and Waldorf schools; child-centered approaches that have begun to enter the public sector; or newer models such as High Tech High or Envision Education, networks of affiliated high schools engaged in shared models of collaborative, project-based learning. These schools often share common teacher and leader training, curriculum, and assessment designs and may have shared approaches to quality reviews.

Similarly, Linked Learning Academies, operating across districts in California with support from an intermediary organization, offer approaches to career technical education that integrate academic and applied learning in occupational fields. Nationally, career academies associated with the National Academies Foundation also share common approaches and a common portfolio system for graduation. A rigorous accreditation process ensures the integrity and quality of the model across sites.

Some school networks have grown quite extensive. The network of International High Schools successfully serving new English learners—now operates in California, Maryland, and New York. Big Picture Learning network, which offers hands-on approaches to education through extensive internships in the community, includes 65 schools across the United States and dozens of schools in other countries. EL Education (previously known as Expeditionary Learning) now has more than 150 schools engaged in project-based discovery learning approaches in 33 states, serving 53,000 students. New Tech Network has 126 high schools, 41 middle schools, and 23 elementary schools in 118 districts, serving 72,000 students who are learning to use technology in project-based initiatives that apply their learning to real-world problems.

Depending on the context, these schools operate most often as district-run public schools or sometimes as charters. Many models have both charters and non-charters as members. The individual schools choose a governance approach based on what works most effectively in a given school district or state context. In all cases, they are schools of choice.

Some of these models have demonstrated substantial success. A study by MDRC of new school development in New York, which launched many of these models, found that student performance in the new schools was significantly higher than in the large comprehensive high schools they replaced.²⁷ An American Institutes of Research evaluation of schools in the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation "deeper learning

Other schools of choice are based on a common educational model or philosophy, often organized through a network of schools that may cross district or state lines. schools"—which includes many of these new networks—also found significant improvements in student performance and attainment.²⁸

As districts seek these new school models, they often evolve their own systems of choice, if they have not already developed a fully formed approach. This evolution may lead to selective choice—that is, a few schools to which families may apply outside their usual assigned school—or it may lead to districtwide choice systems like those described earlier, in which families may apply to any school in the district through a single application that ranks choices or through individual applications to schools of interest. These structures become very important in shaping opportunities and access. The district's role in overseeing and leveraging school quality is also critical.

Dual Enrollment/Early College

Another form of choice is dual enrollment, in which high school students take some or all of their courses at the college level. In many cases, students take these courses at a local college. In others, they take college-level courses at their high school, taught by high school or college instructors (often called concurrent enrollment). Although dual enrollment does not necessarily mean that a student chooses a school, the student does choose the coursework he or she will take and in many cases the environment in which these courses are offered.

Nationally, dual enrollment in high school and college courses has grown rapidly, especially in the past decade. According to the U.S. Department of Education, 1.3 million students took nearly 2 million college courses within a dual enrollment program in 2010–11, the most recent year for which data are available. That total represents a 75% increase since 2002–03. An additional 136,400 students took college courses on their own. More than four in five high schools—nearly 15,000 schools—offered dual enrollment options.²⁹

State rules for participation vary widely. Some states set minimum academic requirements for students participating in dual enrollment programs. In Florida, for example, students must have a minimum 3.0 grade point average (GPA) and attain a minimum score on a placement test to enroll in a college course; a student must have a 2.0 GPA to enroll in a career certificate course. In Iowa, students participating in dual enrollment must be at the proficient level in reading, mathematics, and science on state assessments and must receive written approval from the school board and the postsecondary institution. In California, by contrast, dual enrollment is open to any students approved by their local high schools.

States also vary in how the programs are financed. Minnesota pays the tuition for students enrolled dually and prohibits charges for textbooks or services. But nine states require parents to pay the tuition for students in dual enrollment, 14 states leave decisions to local districts or institutions, and 11 states split costs between districts and parents. In Michigan, districts reimburse postsecondary institutions either the cost of tuition or the prorated per-pupil funding for the student, whichever is less; if tuition exceeds the district reimbursement, parents must make up the difference. Clearly, decisions about funding influence which students and schools are able to participate.

One form of dual enrollment is the Early College High School model. The school's coursework is usually designed by school districts and institutions of higher education to enable students to earn as much as an associate's degree or 2 years of credit toward a bachelor's degree by the time they graduate from high school. To date, more than 240 Early College high schools have opened.

Thus far, Early College high schools serve high concentrations of students from low-income families and students of color. About three fourths of the students are students of color, including 41% Latino and 25% African American, and 57% are from low-income families. Nearly half will be the first in their families to attend college.³⁰ Unlike dual enrollment programs, which are generally aimed at students who are already academically prepared for college

Students in Early College high schools were significantly more likely than comparison students to graduate from high school, enroll in college, and complete college.

coursework, Early College high schools are aimed at all students. Thus, the schools also provide support services, such as tutoring and counseling, to enable students who may be struggling to pursue higher education.

An evaluation of this initiative found that students in Early College high schools were significantly more likely than comparison students to graduate from high school, enroll in college, and complete college. The impact on college attainment was greatest for students of color and those from low-income families.³¹

Providing Choice Options Through Charter Schools

Description of Charters

The most recent version of school choice is charter schools. According to the U.S. Department of Education,

[a] *public charter school* is a publicly funded school that is typically governed by a group or organization under a legislative contract (or charter) with the state, district, or other entity. The charter exempts the school from certain state or local rules and regulations. In return for flexibility and autonomy, the charter school must meet the accountability standards outlined in its charter. A school's charter is reviewed periodically by the entity that granted it, most commonly every five years, and can be revoked if guidelines on curriculum and management are not followed or if the accountability standards are not met.

In cases where charters are authorized by districts that offer strong oversight, districts have sought to incorporate charters into their existing school choice systems that operate as a "portfolio" system of schools.³² For example, in Sacramento, CA, and Denver, CO, the districts have organized both district-run schools of choice and charters in a unified system of admissions, facilities, and professional development support. In some other cases, charters have been stand-alone enterprises running their own admissions and operations with little intersection, oversight, or support from district management.

Charter schools can have a range of management structures—67% of all charter schools are independently run, single-site schools. Twenty percent of charter operators manage more than one school. These are known as charter management organizations (CMOs), which may be nonprofit or for-profit.³³ Overall, just under 13% of charter schools are for-profit. However, the number of for-profit management companies running charter schools increased twentyfold between 1995 and 2012, from five to 99, and the number of schools they operate increased more than a hundredfold, from six to 758.³⁴

Forty-four states plus the District of Columbia have charter laws, which differ substantially from one another. Some states have tight accountability requirements for authorizers and for charters themselves, while others have fewer and less rigorous expectations for the qualifications of staff; the nature of the curriculum; student recruitment, admissions, and retention practices; and financial viability. Some states prohibit for-profit providers or online charters. Others have a large number of both.

An area of recent growth has been the spread of virtual or online charters, where instruction takes place over the Internet. In 2015–16, 528 full-time virtual schools enrolled 278,511 students in 34 states. Private education Some states have tight accountability requirements for authorizers and for charters themselves, while others have fewer and less rigorous expectations for the qualifications of staff; the nature of the curriculum; student recruitment, admissions, and retention practices; and financial viability. management organizations operated 29% of the full-time virtual schools; however, those schools accounted for 70% of all students enrolled in this sector. Two for-profit companies—K12 Inc. and Connections—enroll over 60% of total virtual school charter students. While charter schools account for 82% of virtual schools, some states and districts have also been creating virtual schools.³⁵

Currently, about 6,700 charter schools serve approximately 2.7 million children—about 5% of all students and nearly the same number as attend magnet schools.³⁶ However, the proportion of students in charter schools varies widely among states. In Arizona, for example, 19% of students are in charter schools, while in Connecticut and New Hampshire, only 1% of students are in charter schools. In most districts, charters serve a relatively small number of all students; however, in New Orleans, LA, nearly all students are in charter schools, and in Detroit and Flint, MI, more than half of students are in charter schools.

Charter Outcomes

In terms of achievement, research finds mixed outcomes for charters as a group, with some doing better and others doing worse than district-run public schools. A large-scale study of student data from 16 states, from the Center for Research on Education Outcomes (CREDO) at Stanford University, found that 17% of charter schools produced greater academic gains than traditional public schools, while 37% performed worse than their traditional public school counterparts serving similar students. The largest share showed no difference.³⁷ In states with multiple authorizers, charter student achievement was lower than that in traditional public schools. This suggests that where there are many authorizers without strong accountability, charters may choose the authorizer with the most relaxed standards.

More recent studies from CREDO use a methodology that compares charter school students only to those who come from public "feeder" schools that send students to those charters. These sending schools represent a small minority of public schools in each state, frequently those in more high-need communities where charters and their feeders are concentrated. They do not represent a comparison between charter school outcomes and those of all district-run public schools in a state or district. These studies tend to find somewhat more positive, though still mixed, results for charters in comparison to the schools that send them students.³⁸

Similarly, as a group, charters vary widely in terms of graduation rates. NCES identified 30% of charter schools as low-graduation-rate high schools in 2013–14, and charter school graduation rates averaged 70% compared to 82% in public schools overall. However, 44% of charters had higher than average graduation rates of 85% and above.

Studies find very different outcomes for charters across states, a result that is linked to their different laws and policies.³⁹ For example, the CREDO study noted above found that outcomes vary across states, and that certain state policies appear to be correlated with charter school student achievement. In states with multiple authorizers, charter student achievement was lower than that in traditional public schools. This suggests that where there are many authorizers without strong accountability, charters may choose the authorizer with the most relaxed standards.

For instance, in Arizona and Ohio, where an unregulated market strategy with many authorizers has created a huge range of for-profit and nonprofit providers, studies have found that charter school students achieve at consistently lower levels than their demographically similar public school counterparts.⁴⁰ Arizona and Ohio also have among the highest percentages of low-graduation-rate charter high schools, along with California, Hawaii, and Indiana.⁴¹

NCES data show that 87% of virtual schools were identified as lowgraduation-rate schools in 2013–14, with an average graduation rate of only 40%, less than half the national average rate of 82%.

Ohio allows for more types of organizations to

become authorizers than any other state. There are currently more than 65 authorizers in the state, and over 50% of charter schools in Ohio have been sponsored by entities not connected with any public agency. As a result, there has been a proliferation of charters, leading to concerns about both quality and accountability.⁴² There are also many authorizers in Arizona, where charters are granted for 15 years with little accountability in the interim.⁴³

Whereas 20 states and Puerto Rico require charter school teachers to be certified like other public school teachers, Arizona is among the five states (plus DC) that do not. Ohio is among the 18 states that allow for some uncertified teachers to teach in charter schools under certain conditions but require most teaching staff to hold certification.⁴⁴

By contrast, in Massachusetts, the highest performing state overall on the National Assessment of Educational Progress, charter students typically achieve at high levels (as indicated by separate studies from Harvard, MIT, and Stanford University).⁴⁵ These charters operate under a cap on the total number of charters, which voters refused to lift in November 2016. The state's 81 charters are held to rigorous expectations not only for curriculum, staffing quality, and academic performance but also for the admission and retention of high-need students.

Another challenge has surfaced with the recent proliferation of online or virtual schools, many of which are for-profit. A recent study by CREDO found that virtual or online charters had far lower achievement for their students in both mathematics and reading than traditional public schools serving similar students. The differences in student learning equated to a student losing 72 days of learning in reading and 180 days of learning in mathematics, based on a 180-day school year.⁴⁶ NCES data also show that 87% of virtual schools were identified as low-graduation-rate schools in 2013–14, with an average graduation rate of only 40%, less than half the national average rate of 82%. States with the highest percentage of non-graduates coming from virtual schools included Ohio, Idaho, Pennsylvania, and Colorado.⁴⁷

Many online charters are also for-profit. States differ as to whether they allow online or for-profit charters; some states prohibit them, while others have authorized many. For example, for-profit charters comprise 13% of all charters nationwide, but make up 79% of the charters in Michigan, which has the most of any state.

Policies Addressing Charter Challenges

The policy differences between states such as Massachusetts, with high-performing charters, and Arizona and Ohio, with low-performing charters, are noteworthy. In contrast to Arizona and Ohio, Massachusetts authorizes only nonprofit charters. These are approved through the state Bureau of Elementary and Secondary Education, which reviews charter applications for high-quality curriculum plans and requires all staff to meet the state's rigorous certification standards. Charters must share successful innovations with other schools and districts and must maintain high standards to be reauthorized.

Massachusetts charters admit students by lottery and must serve special education students and English learners. Charters cannot push out students who are challenging to educate. Their plans for recruiting and retaining students must be publicly posted and are monitored extensively by the Department of Education, which not only approves these plans and monitors enrollment and attrition data but also makes anonymous "mystery parent" calls to verify that students with high levels of need are provided with "equal and unfettered access to each school's application and enrollment process."⁴⁸ To renew a charter for an additional 5 years, a school must affirmatively demonstrate faithfulness to its charter, academic program success, and organizational viability, as well as adherence to its recruitment and retention plan to serve high-need students.

The policies in Massachusetts have been designed to avoid key challenges some other states have experienced. Most studies have found that charters underserve English learners and special education students relative to public schools in their districts.⁴⁹ They are also more racially and economically segregated than public schools generally.⁵⁰

Concerns have been raised about "creaming and cropping"—a process by which schools admit only the most promising students and push out those who struggle to learn through counseled transfers or disciplinary expulsions.⁵¹ Both charters and district-run schools have engaged in these practices,⁵² but it is easier for charters that manage their own admissions and expulsion policies to do so. For example, in California, where this practice is illegal, a recent study found that 1-in-5 charters violates state law by restricting access for high-need students.⁵³

In New Orleans, which is now entirely composed of charters, the Southern Poverty Law Center sued to ensure that charter schools would accept special education students, as most refused to admit those with significant needs. Even after the lawsuit was resolved, Stanford University researchers found that special education students, those from the most impoverished families, and other vulnerable young people had little choice in the system, as they were often assigned, against their will, to failing schools that they could not choose their way out of. These schools frequently close, bouncing students to another failing school-a practice that reduces their achievement further.54 Although New Orleans has some innovative

Concerns have been raised about "creaming and cropping"—a process by which schools admit only the most promising students and push out those who struggle to learn through counseled transfers or disciplinary expulsions. and successful charters, they disproportionately serve the more racially, economically, and educationally advantaged students, and when they fill up, there are few worthy choices remaining.⁵⁵

The experiences of students in many charters were described in the recently released NAACP report *Quality education for all, one school at a time.*⁵⁶ Based on seven hearings across the country, the report highlighted both the good work of some charters and the problems with others. These range from exclusionary admissions and pushout policies to placements in schools far from children's homes to poor teaching and financial scandals. It is important to ensure a strong public system that can focus on what is needed to create highquality schools, improve schools, and manage choice so that all children have schools worth choosing that are readily available to them within their communities.

The report noted that simply closing failing charter schools is not an adequate answer to low quality. More than 2,500 charters have closed since 2001—nearly 40% of charters started in that time—disrupting the education of tens of thousands of children, most of them children of color from low-income families. These disruptions reduce achievement for the children who have to change schools, sometimes midyear, and may leave them traveling far from home to find a school that will take them.

It is important to ensure a strong public system that can focus on what is needed to create high-quality schools, improve schools, and manage choice so that all children have schools worth choosing that are readily available to them within their communities.

Some cities have begun to figure out strategies to manage choice. For example, Denver has created a system with many high-quality options, both by providing district-run schools of choice and charters and by supporting professional development for both types of schools. The city operates a rigorous authorization process for charters and ensures that all students are served by schools they want to choose by managing the admissions process. Lotteries are used to allocate students to schools they have selected (so that high-need students are not excluded), and spots are filled from the lottery wait list when there is attrition during the year. Charters cannot independently expel students; they must go through a district-run process that provides due process and seeks to minimize student exclusions. States can support this kind of system by the incentives and frameworks they provide in legislation and regulation.

Public Funding to Attend Private Schools

States have used several strategies to offer choice through public funding that supports private school attendance. These include vouchers, tuition tax credits or deductions, and education spending accounts (ESAs) that can be applied to a variety of education costs.

Voucher Programs

Currently, 14 states and the District of Columbia operate a total of 26 voucher programs.⁵⁷ (The DC program was created by Congress in 2004. It remains the only federally funded voucher program.) A number of other states have put forth legislative or ballot measures on vouchers that were ultimately rejected by the courts, often for reasons of separation of church and state, since most private schools are religiously affiliated. Ballot initiatives to spend public funds for private school vouchers have been rejected in California (twice), Colorado, Oregon, Utah, and Washington.

The programs vary in many ways. Most states restrict who is eligible for the programs. In 11 states, voucher programs are aimed at students with disabilities. In Florida, for example, the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with Disabilities is a statewide program, adopted in 1999, that allows any student in the state with an individual education program to receive a voucher to attend a private school. In 2017, 31,499 students participated at 1,454 schools.⁵⁸

Other states limit vouchers to students from low-income families, students who had previously attended a public school, or students from certain geographical areas (such as Wisconsin's program for Milwaukee students). Two states, Ohio and Wisconsin, which adopted a statewide voucher program in 2013, limit the number of students who can participate, although Wisconsin's cap, which increases each year, is scheduled to be lifted in 2026–27.

States also differ in what they require of participating schools. Most states require schools to administer state assessments or some other standardized tests. Generally, however, states attach no conditions to the outcomes on these tests regarding schools' eligibility to receive vouchers. Six states require schools to be accredited by a state or regional agency or to receive a charter from the state board of education. Wisconsin requires teachers to be licensed, and other jurisdictions, such as Oklahoma and DC, require teachers to have bachelor's degrees and meet other requirements. Other states have few requirements for participating schools.⁵⁹

States vary in the value of the voucher, which can affect which private schools students can attend. In Indiana, the state sets a sliding-scale cut point, with a greater share of the maximum allowable amount available to children from lower income families. Generally, vouchers cover a relatively small amount of the total cost of an independent private school.

The history of vouchers in the United States is associated with support for white flight from public schools in southern school districts, such as Prince Edward County, VA, that were seeking to avoid desegregation.⁶⁰ Recent studies have found evidence of both segregative and integrative effects in different programs that operate under different circumstances.⁶¹

Whether using a voucher to attend a private school supports student achievement is a question with mixed results. For many years, studies reported little difference in achievement for students using vouchers, with relatively small positive and negative results found, often differing among

subgroups and shifting from year to year, program to program, grade level to grade level, or subject to subject.⁶² Recently, however, four major studies of large statewide programs in Indiana, Louisiana, and DC found substantial negative effects on achievement for students who received vouchers to attend private schools compared to similar students who stayed in public schools.⁶³

The schools generally viewed as most desirable typically have long waiting lists and do not have room or any need to accept additional students on vouchers.

It is unclear whether the expansion of vouchers in these states caused a proliferation of lower quality schools to start up or to accept voucher students; whether private schools (which in some states do not need to hire trained or certified teachers) were less prepared to meet the needs of the students they accepted on vouchers; or whether other restrictions on the vouchers meant that higher quality private schools did not accept voucher students. In any event, the schools generally viewed as most desirable typically have long waiting lists and do not have room or any need to accept additional students on vouchers.

One of the studies from Louisiana,⁶⁴ which found large negative impacts on mathematics, reading, science, and social studies achievement, examined a statewide program targeted to children from low-income families attending low-achieving schools. The authors found that one third of private schools participating in the program had previously experienced declining enrollment, suggesting these private schools may have been struggling before the voucher program, and indicating the need to consider the quality of schools allowed to participate in such programs.⁶⁵

Tax Credits or Deductions

States have created two kinds of tax incentives to support tuition for students attending private schools. Eight states allow parents to receive a reduction in their tax bills for education expenses. Alabama, Illinois, Iowa, Minnesota, and South Carolina provide a tax credit that reduces the amount of tax a family owes. In Alabama, the credit is refundable, meaning that the family receives the amount of the credit even if its tax bill is less than the amount of the credit.

Indiana, Louisiana, Minnesota, and Wisconsin provide a deduction from taxable income for education expenses. This option is only available to families who itemize their deductions—generally the wealthier 30% of households who tend to itemize deductions and have larger tax liabilities.⁶⁶

The amount of the benefit to families varies. In Alabama, the amount of the credit is equal to 80% of state per-pupil expenditures or the cost of tuition, whichever is less. In Wisconsin, the amount of the deduction can equal the full cost of tuition, but it is capped at \$5,000.

Eligibility for the programs varies as well. In Alabama, the program is limited to parents of students who transfer from a "failing" (i.e., persistently low-performing) school to a non-failing public school or accredited private school.⁶⁷ South Carolina's refundable tax credit is available only for students with disabilities.

A second type of tax incentive is a tax credit for individuals—and corporations—who contribute to an organization that provides scholarships for students to attend private schools. Arizona was the first to adopt this type of program, in 1997. Currently, 17 states have such programs.⁶⁸

Under the programs, states designate approved organizations that can accept donations and award scholarships to students to attend private and religious schools. Some states place strict limits on eligibility for scholarships and limit the amount of tax credits that can be claimed. In Alabama, for example, 75% of scholarship recipients must have attended a public school the previous year, and the proportion of scholarships for students from low-income families must be equal to the proportion of low-income students in the county. Scholarship organizations must provide annual reports on the number of scholarships awarded and how many went to students from low-income families. The state caps the total amount of credits at \$30 million per year.⁶⁹

Arizona, by contrast, has few eligibility requirements and does not limit the dollar amount of the scholarships awarded. Although the state requires scholarship organizations to report on recipients, including their income levels, it does not require schools that enroll scholarship recipients to administer state tests or other standardized assessments.

Some reports have highlighted possible abuses associated with the scholarship tax credits. In Georgia, for example, where the state makes scholarships available only for students who had previously attended public schools, reports emerged that some parents registered their children in public schools in order to later take advantage of the scholarships, but did not actually ever enroll their children in public schools.⁷⁰

The tax credit programs have also faced legal challenges. A group of Arizona taxpayers filed suit against that state's program, charging that it violated the U.S. Constitution by providing taxpayer funds to religious schools. The U.S. Supreme Court ruled in 2011 that the plaintiffs lacked standing to challenge the program; however, other challenges may emerge from plaintiffs with standing.

Education Savings Accounts

Education Savings Accounts (ESAs), pioneered by Arizona in 2011, provide state funds to parents' savings accounts that can be used to pay tuition in private and religious schools, as well as to cover other education costs, such as tutoring, textbooks, specialized therapy, extracurricular activities, online or Advanced Placement classes, or to reserve funds for college. Currently, six states have ESA programs on the books, although Nevada's program is suspended because of ongoing litigation. A total of 11,482 families have participated in the programs in Arizona, Florida, Mississippi, and Tennessee. Data for North Carolina are not available.⁷¹

Early ESA programs (e.g., those in Florida, Mississippi, and Tennessee) targeted those who qualified for special education services or had other restrictions. For example, in Arizona, participants must have attended a public school in the prior year and attended a school earning a D or F on the state's accountability system, be in foster care, or live on a Native American reservation. Nevada's program, however, sought to offer universal eligibility. Facing a legal challenge, the program was blocked from implementation by the courts in January 2016; the court decision could be precedent-setting for this approach to education choice.⁷²

The amount of the ESA benefit varies. In Arizona, students from low-income families receive 100% of the per-pupil base funding (currently \$5,600), while those from higher income families receive 90% of the base funding. Tennessee's program provides 100% of the funding tied to the student, which includes the supplement for students with disabilities.⁷³

Homeschooling

One of the most widely used forms of school choice is the oldest type of education: homeschooling. According to the U.S. Department of Education, 1.8 million students, or 3.4% of the student population, were homeschooled in 2012.⁷⁴ This was double the number and rate from 1999. All 50 states and DC allow homeschooling.

The vast majority of homeschooled students in 2012 were White (83%) and non-poor (89%), with disproportionate shares in rural areas.⁷⁵ About 44% of parents of homeschooled students had a bachelor's degree or higher; only 2% had less than a high school diploma.

Most homeschooled students (62%) were at the middle or high school level. Most parents (91%) cited concerns about the environment of other schools, such as safety, drugs, or peer pressure, as an important factor, and 25% cited such concerns as the most important factor. Three fourths cited dissatisfaction with academic instruction in other schools, and two thirds cited a desire to provide religious instruction.⁷⁶

States vary widely in their regulation of homeschooling. Thirty-eight states require parents to notify the state's department of education or local school district if they are homeschooling their child, but the extent of oversight is quite different from state to state. In California, for example, parents must file an affidavit with the state annually, including enrollment and course work information. In Louisiana, the parents' application for homeschooling must include progress information and must be approved by the state board of elementary and secondary education. In Arizona, by contrast, parents must notify the county board of education at the outset of homeschooling, but there are no notification requirements thereafter. In 12 states there are no requirements.⁷⁷

States also vary in their requirements for parent teachers, for curriculum, and for assessment. Only 13 states require parent instructors to have qualifications, usually a high school diploma; three of these states—Minnesota, Virginia, and Washington—along with Washington, DC, allow waivers of these requirements. In Colorado and Montana, a family member, not necessarily a parent, can provide instruction. Only two states—Arkansas and Pennsylvania—conduct background checks of parent instructors and prohibit homeschooling if a family member has been convicted of a crime or is a registered sex offender.

More than half the states require homeschooled students to receive instruction in certain subjects, usually mathematics, English language arts, science, and social studies. But six states—Alaska, Arkansas, Delaware, Mississippi, Utah, and Virginia—do not require any specific subjects. And four states—Kansas, Louisiana, North Carolina, and Oklahoma—mandate hours of instruction but do not stipulate the subjects that must be taught in those hours.⁷⁸

Twenty states require homeschooled students to be assessed, but the form and frequency of the assessments can vary. In 12 states, students must States vary widely in their regulation of homeschooling and their requirements for parent teachers, for curriculum, and for assessment. Only 13 states require parent instructors to have qualifications, usually a high school diploma. take standardized tests, but not all of them require annual or even frequent testing. Other states allow alternatives to standardized tests ranging from local district advisory boards that review students' academic progress to parent evaluations.⁷⁹

States also vary in the extent to which they allow homeschooled students to participate in school classes or extracurricular activities. Thirty states allow some form of participation, though in some cases students can only do so with permission from the local district or if they are dual-enrolled or enrolled part time. California and Washington have instituted programs through which school districts aiding homeschooling families are reimbursed by the state.⁸⁰

Adequately controlled research on the population of homeschooled children is scarce. Often the samples are a subset of volunteers who do not represent the population as a whole, and studies do not control for the characteristics of the sample. Participants generally come from the more affluent segment of the homeschooled population. These studies suggest that these students tend to do as well as or better than public school students on standardized tests—typically better in English language arts than in mathematics or science. Those who take the SAT and ACT typically achieve above-average scores; however, they tend to represent a smaller share of the homeschooling population (usually fewer than one fourth) than is the case in public schools, where more than half of students take college admissions tests during high school.⁸¹ Other studies suggest that homeschoolers are far underrepresented among the college population in proportion to their share of all students.⁸²

Although some homeschooled children do well, there is wide variability among them. A study using matched pairs of students from public schools with homeschoolers found that homeschoolers from more structured educational environments (i.e., with a more structured curriculum, focused instruction, and use of time) did better than public school students, but those from less structured educational environments did worse.⁸³

States vary in the extent to which they allow homeschooled students to participate in school classes or extracurricular activities.

Challenges of Research on Choice

Our knowledge of the effects of different choices on academic outcomes is limited by a number of challenges that should be kept in mind when examining research results. It is important that policymakers are mindful of these three factors when interpreting results.

1. Acknowledging the effects of different contexts on results of different choice options for different students

Because states and districts organize, fund, support, and regulate choices differently, the effects of choices such as interdistrict options, magnet schools, charter schools, or vouchers in one context may be entirely different from those in another. This may be because of the content and quality of the options provided, as well as the nature of the different student groups who participate as a result of access rules or other local variables. Consequently, it is not possible to assume that the results of a study of charter schools in Boston would generalize to those in Chicago, or that the results from homeschoolers in Georgia apply to those in Oregon. It is also unlikely that the kind of school options developed by a district with substantial funding, quality standards, and professional development supports will be the same as those in a district that simply authorizes alternatives without cultivating their quality.

2. Controlling for other variables that affect outcomes

It is important when evaluating outcomes to account for background factors that also affect achievement. These include family income and education, student learning characteristics (such as special education needs or language background), and opportunities to learn outside of the school context, among other factors. If studies do not control for these differences, they may attribute results to the choice of school rather than to other factors that are differentially represented in the comparison group. In addition, when studying the results of school choices, it is difficult to make causal claims in part because families that make the effort to seek out such schools may be more motivated or advantaged in ways that are not captured by other variables that are easily controlled. Thus, the strongest studies both adjust for or match the characteristics of students served and, where possible, compare samples of students who sought to exercise choice (for example, comparing students who were selected by a lottery with others who participated in the same lottery but were not selected for the particular program option).

3. Creating comparable samples to support comparisons

The uniqueness of the many choice options and the contexts within which they occur can make it difficult to find or create samples of students to support valid comparisons. For example, when looking at the effects of New Orleans reforms after Hurricane Katrina, studies could not easily account for the loss of thousands of families—mostly lower income—who never returned after the hurricane and the change in student demographics associated with the more advantaged group of homeowners and business owners who returned to the city.⁸⁴

The choice of comparison groups can result in very different findings, even when studies use controls for student income or other characteristics. For example, because of the difficulties associated with creating a comparison group for evaluating effects, one study used students from other districts outside of New Orleans as controls for students inside New Orleans, despite the city's unique student population and context. This study found positive outcomes over time relative to similar students not from New Orleans.⁸⁵ Another study found negative effects of the city's reforms when looking at the actual students from New Orleans: It found that evacuees who stayed away after Katrina did better academically than those who came back, with the highest evacuee achievement gains in traditional public schools outside New Orleans.⁸⁶

Similarly, a study that compared the performance of charter school students in Louisiana to the performance of those who came from feeder schools that sent students to those charters found positive results for students in charters in comparison to similar students in the sending schools.⁸⁷ However, these feeders represented only about one fourth of the public schools in the state. Another study looking at all of the public schools in the state found that Louisiana charter school students performed much lower than comparable public school students in district-run schools.⁸⁸

Thus, different studies using different kinds of comparison groups can come to very different findings. It is important for policymakers to interpret research and its implications carefully, and to seek to commission and use research that can most accurately answer their key policy questions.

Key Policy Considerations

Choice has been expanding, producing many types of positive opportunities for many children, but it is clear that simply providing choices does not automatically provide high-quality options that are accessible to all students or improve student learning.

What follows are some of the considerations policymakers can take into account as they seek to expand high-quality education options within the public sector.

High-Quality Neighborhood Schools

National data show that when parents have choice options available, three quarters choose their assigned school—usually their neighborhood public school—and identify it as their first choice.⁸⁹ And when parents want to choose a different school, they often cite distance as a challenge. Districts also cite transportation costs for choice plans that bus many children across large distances as an issue. In New Orleans, where all schools are now charters, many children are bussed long distances, often passing other schools on the way, at a cost of \$33 million annually, because schools emerged without a centralized planning process.⁹⁰ In other districts, such as Detroit, school closures have created what some observers have called "educational deserts" within the city.⁹¹

If the first, most desired option for most families is a quality neighborhood public school, part of planning for options is considering how to create high-quality options in all communities to the greatest extent possible. This suggests that geographic considerations for the placement of new schools and the preservation of existing schools are important to fold into expectations for planning, along with processes for assessing and improving quality.

In states and districts that have had successful approaches to choice, such as Massachusetts, there is a regular assessment of the quality of each school's offerings, staffing, and services, often through a School Quality Review or other assessment system,⁹² with supports and interventions to improve schools that may be lagging. These may include professional development for educators, strengthening leadership, improvements in curriculum, or the creation of community school models that provide wraparound health and social services where students need them. Some districts—including Boston, Denver, and New York City—provide this kind of review and assistance for traditional public schools and charters, and offer professional learning opportunities to both, so as to improve opportunities for children, rather than having to close failing schools. Under ESSA, many states are creating school review and assistance programs that can create systems of continuous improvement for all schools.

Intradistrict and Interdistrict Choice Options

Successful intradistrict and interdistrict choice plans can expand high-quality options and serve the public purposes of education when

- districts work to ensure that many high-quality choices are available, and continually seek to improve schools so that no students are left in low-quality options;
- strong systems of information are readily available to parents;
- application processes are consolidated, not burdensome, and are equally accessible;

- choice is managed to support racial/ethnic and economic integration, both within and across district lines; and
- transportation is free and readily available.

Dual Enrollment and Early College Options

States can expand and improve course-taking options for high school students—and improve the efficiency of their educational systems—by

- encouraging community colleges and 4-year colleges to partner with local high schools and to offer distance learning courses to expand offerings to secondary students who are ready for more advanced learning opportunities;
- underwriting the costs of dual enrollment in college courses while students are still in high school;
- stimulating the creation of Early College programs through competitive grants or availability of seed money; and
- ensuring that all students have access to the prerequisite coursework in middle and high school.

Charter Schools

States and districts can improve the odds that charter schools will provide high-quality options to students by:

- Having a small number of **authorizers** who are held to strong accountability standards. Typically, these are local education agencies and/or the state education agency operating under expectations that they will enforce state standards and monitor charter school practices and performance.
- Ensuring that charters must meet **standards for quality** pertaining to curriculum, instruction, and assessment; hiring qualified teachers; and requiring financial viability to be authorized or renewed. Some states also look for high levels of community and public support and demonstrations that the school has feasible plans for attaining high levels of achievement for students.⁹³
- Ensuring **access** by requiring student recruitment, retention plans, and monitoring access to and continuation in schools for students with disabilities, English learners, and students of varied racial/ethnic, economic, and educational backgrounds.
- Using a regular **reporting and review system** to ensure a reasonable standard of quality. For example, Connecticut requires an annual report on the condition of the school, including the educational progress of students, financial condition, a certified audit statement of all revenues and expenditures, accomplishment of the mission of the charter school, the racial and ethnic composition of the student body and efforts taken to increase that diversity, and best practices employed by the school that contribute significantly to the academic success of students.⁹⁴
- Prohibiting or placing clear restrictions and standards on **for-profit schools** to keep taxpayer funds for public purposes, and to remove incentives for schools or educational management organizations to make a profit by restricting student services or denying access to children who are expensive to educate.

Virtual Schools

States that choose to support virtual or online schools can reduce the negative outcomes that have been recorded for this school sector and enhance the chances that these schools will provide productive options for students by

• maintaining **additional special oversight** for the operations of virtual/online schools, if they are authorized, so that students receive adequate support and services from a sufficient number of qualified staff with technology tools fully in place.

Of the 24 states that define or permit virtual charter schools, 20 include additional oversight for these schools.⁹⁵ Since 2015, more than 20 state legislatures have introduced bills to strengthen review and accountability over the quality of courses, teachers, and student supports, as well as to protect the privacy of student data and limit profit-making and misreporting of student enrollment and attendance.⁹⁶

Private School Options

Among ongoing debates and litigation about the legality of public funding for nonpublic (especially religious) schools, a small number of states provide public funding for vouchers for students to attend private schools, with mixed outcomes for achievement. Education tax credits, deductions, or education savings accounts have also been created in some states to offset private schools costs, especially for parents of students with disabilities. To support student outcomes, appropriate uses of public funds, and democratic goals, states can consider

- maintaining **standards of quality** for schools that are the recipients of these funds, through requirements for accreditation, staff qualifications, and curriculum plans, as well as information from assessments of student progress;
- ensuring **nondiscrimination standards** on the basis of race, class, gender and sexual orientation, and disability status for schools that are recipients of funds to protect civil rights of students and to discourage segregation or discrimination; and
- funding only those options that **advance state purposes**, like the provision of more specialized high-quality services to students with disabilities, as some programs are designed to do, or the provision of opportunities for advanced study (such as AP courses) otherwise unavailable to students.

Homeschooling

All 50 states allow homeschooling. In general, states' concerns have to do with ensuring that all students are receiving an education that will allow them to fully participate in the economy and civic life, and that no students are failing to attend school due to neglect rather than parent engagement in their education. Research suggests that states can encourage responsible practice by

- requiring **registration or application** for homeschooling intentions, so that students not enrolled in school are expected to be under educational care;
- requiring **evidence of a structured program of study** that covers key aspects of curriculum, minimal qualifications from instructors, and some form of regular assessment of learning; and
- providing financial **support for districts that include homeschooled students** in aspects of the curriculum, students' services, or extracurricular activities.

Research

Sorting out how to provide students with excellent and equitable educational opportunities—and to ensure that the state has an educated citizenry on which to build an inclusive society and a productive economy—is no small feat in the complex world of education. States can better inform their efforts by

- using **high-quality research** that includes appropriate sampling strategies, comparison groups, and controls wherever possible when designing new policies to expand student learning opportunities and to advance other desirable goals such as desegregation; and
- including **research and evaluation requirements** in new policy initiatives and attending to the outcomes of research in reviewing and revising existing policies to better meet states' goals for high-quality education and equitable access.

Conclusion

Ultimately, the challenge is to create a system filled with schools worth choosing in which all students have a genuine right to choose and have access to schools that serve them well. Our common welfare is best served when investments in schools enable all young people to become productive, responsible citizens prepared to participate effectively in the political, social, and economic life of their democracy.

As John Dewey wrote more than a century ago in The School and Society,

What the best and wisest parent wants for his own child, that must the community want for all of its children. Any other ideal for our schools is narrow and unlovely; acted upon, it destroys our democracy. ... Only by being true to the full growth of all the individuals who make it up, can society by any chance be true to itself.⁹⁷

Endnotes

- See for example, Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). *The Flat World and Education: How America's Commitment to Equity Will Determine Our Nation's Future*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press; Friedlaender, D., Burns, D., Lewis-Charp, H., Cook-Harvey, C. M., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2014). *Student-centered schools: Closing the opportunity gap*. Stanford, CA: Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education. https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/projects/633 (accessed 9/11/17); Friedlaender, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2007). *High schools for equity: Policy supports for student learning in communities of color*. Stanford, CA: School Redesign Network at Stanford University. https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/scope-pub-high-schools-for-equity-report.pdf.
- Broughman, S. P., Rettig, A., & Peterson, J. (2017). *Characteristics of private schools in the United States: Results from the 2015–16 Private School Universe Survey First Look (NCES 2017-073).* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/ pubs2017/2017073.pdf (accessed 9/11/17).
- 3. EdChoice. (n.d.). Fast facts on school choice. http://www.edchoice.org/our-resources/fast-facts.
- 4. National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- 5. National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- 6. National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- Holme, J. J. (2002). Buying homes, buying schools: School choice and the social construction of school quality. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72(2), 177–206. https://doi.org/10.17763/ haer.72.2.u6272x676823788r.
- 8. National Center for Education Statistics (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- 9. National Center for Education Statistics (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- 10. National Center for Education Statistics (2016). *Digest of Education Statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- 11. National Center for Education Statistics. Numbers and types of open enrollment policies, by state: 2016. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/statereform/tab4_2.asp.
- Elmore, R., & Burney, D. (1999). Investing in teacher learning: Staff development and instructional improvement in Community School District #2, New York City. In L. Darling-Hammond, & G. Sykes (Eds.). *Teaching as the Learning Profession*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; French, D. (2008). Boston's pilot schools. In L. Dingerson, B. Miner, B. Peterson, & S. Walters. (Eds.) *Keeping the Promise? The Debate Over Charter Schools*, 67–80. Milwaukee, WI: Rethinking Schools; Darling-Hammond, L., Ancess, J., & Ort, S. W. (2002). Reinventing high school: Outcomes of the Coalition Campus School Project. *American Educational Research Journal*, *39*(3) 639–673.
- 13. Aspen Institute Commission on No Child Left Behind. (2007). *Beyond NCLB: Fulfilling the promise to our nation's children*. Washington, DC: Author.
- 14. Witte, J. F., Carlson, D. E., & Lavery, L. (2011, March). The determinants of interdistrict open enrollment flows: Evidence from two states. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *33*(1), 76–94.
- 15. Institute on Metropolitan Opportunity. (2012). *Open enrollment and racial segregation in the Twin Cities, 2000–2010*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Law School.
- 16. Clotfelter, C. T. (2004). *After Brown: The rise and retreat of school desegregation*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- 17. Reardon, S. F., & Bischoff, K. (2009). *Income inequality and income segregation*. (Working paper). Stanford, CA: Stanford University.

- 18. Aspen Associates (2009). *Minnesota voluntary public school choice: Multi-year evaluation*. Edina, MN: Author. http://www.education.state.mn.us/mdeprod/idcplg?IdcService=GET_ FILE&dDocName=002931&RevisionSelectionMethod=latestReleased&Rendition=primary.
- 19. Wells, A. S., Baldridge, B. J., Duran, J., Grzesikowski, C., Lofton, R., Roda, A., Warner, M., & White, T. (2009). *Boundary crossing for diversity, equity and achievement: interdistrict school desegregation and educational opportunity*. Cambridge, MA: Charles Hamilton Houston Institute for Race and Justice.
- 20. Siegel-Hawley, G., & Frankenberg, E. (2012). *Reviving magnet schools: Strengthening a successful choice option*. Los Angeles: University of California, Los Angeles, The Civil Rights Project.
- 21. Betts, J., Kitmitto, S., Levin, J., Bos, J., & Eaton, M. (2015). *What happens when schools become magnet schools? A longitudinal study of diversity and achievement*. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- 22. Siegel-Hawley, G., & Frankenberg, E. (2012). *Reviving magnet schools: Strengthening a successful choice option*. Los Angeles: University of California, Los Angeles, The Civil Rights Project.
- 23. Frankenberg, E., & Siegel-Hawley, G. (2008). *The forgotten choice: Rethinking magnet schools in a changing landscape*. Los Angeles, CA: The Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles.
- 24. Frankenberg, E., & Siegel-Hawley, G. (2008). *The forgotten choice: Rethinking magnet schools in a changing landscape*. Los Angeles, CA: The Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles.
- 25. Siegel-Hawley, G., & Frankenberg, E. (2009). *Magnet school student outcomes: What the research says*. Washington, DC: National Coalition on Student Diversity; Institute on Metropolitan Opportunity. (2013). *Integrated magnet schools: Outcomes and best practices*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Law School.
- 26. Over 200 medium and large districts were released from court desegregation orders between 1991 and 2008—nearly half of those ever subject to such orders. See Reardon, S. F., Grewal, E., Kalogrides, D., & Greenberg, E. (2012). Brown fades: The end of court-ordered school desegregation and the resegregation of American public schools. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*. https://cepa.stanford.edu/content/brown-fades-end-court-ordered-school-desegregation-and-resegregation-american-public-schools.
- 27. Bloom, H. S., Levy Thompson, S., & Unterman, R. (2010). *Transforming the high school experience: How New York City's new small schools are boosting student achievement and graduation rates (executive summary)*. New York: MDRC.
- 28. Zeiser, K. L., Taylor, J., Rickels, J., & Garrett, M. S. (2014). *Evidence of Deeper Learning Outcomes*. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- 29. Marken, S., Gray, L., & Lewis, L. (2013). *Dual enrollment programs for high school students at postsecondary institutions, 2010–11. First Look.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.
- 30. Jobs for the Future. (2014). *Early college high schools get results*. Boston, MA: Author. http://www.jff.org/ sites/default/files/ECHS get results_040113.pdf.
- Berger, A., Turk-Bicakci, L., Garet, M., Song, M., Knudson, J., Haxton, C., Zeiser, K., Hoshen, G., Ford, J., Stephan, J., Keating, K., & Cassidy, L. (2013). *Early college, early success: Early college high school initiative impact study*. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research. http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/ downloads/report/ECHSI Impact Study Report Final1 0.pdf.
- 32. Hill, P. (2006). *Put learning first: A portfolio approach to public schools*. Washington, DC: Progressive Policy Institute.
- 33. CREDO. (2017). Charter management organizations, 2017. Stanford, CA: Author.
- Miron, G., Urschel, J. L., Aguilar, Y., Mayra, A., & Dailey, B. (2012). Profiles of for-profit and nonprofit education management organizations: Thirteenth annual report, 2010–2011. Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center. http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/EMO-profiles-10-11.
- 35. Miron, G., Gulosino, C., Shank, C., Davidson, C. K. (2017). Virtual schools in the U.S., 2017. *Section I: Full-time virtual and blended schools: Enrollment, student characteristics, and performance.* Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center.

- 36. U.S. Department of Education. (2017). *The condition of education*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute for Education Sciences.
- 37. CREDO. (2009). Multiple choice: Charter school performance in 16 states. Stanford, CA: Author.
- 38. See CREDO's series of reports on charter schools using the Virtual Control Record (VCR) methodology at https://credo.stanford.edu/research-reports.html.
- 39. Miron, G., & Nelson, C. (2004). Student achievement in charter schools: What we know and why we know so little. In K. Bulkley & P. Wohlstetter (Eds.). *Taking account of charter schools: What's happened and what's next*, 161–175. New York, NY: Teachers College Press; American Federation of Teachers (2002). *Do charter schools measure up? The charter school experiment after 10 years*. Washington, DC: American Federation of Teachers.
- Miron, G., Coryn, C. L., & Mackety, D. M. (2007). Evaluating the impact of charter schools on student achievement: A longitudinal look at the Great Lakes states. Tempe, AZ: Education Policy Research Unit, College of Education, Arizona State University; Messina, I. (2005). State to review charter school concerns. Columbus, OH: Ohio Federation of Teachers; Carnoy, M., Jacobsen, R., Mishel, L., & Rothstein, R. (2005). The charter school dust-up: Examining the evidence on enrollment and achievement. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute; Chingos, M., & West, M. (2014). The uneven performance of Arizona's charter schools. Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis. https://sites.hks.harvard.edu/pepg/PDF/Papers/ PEPG14_04_Chingos_West.pdf.
- 41. DePaoli, J. L., Balfanz, R., & Bridgeland, J. (2016). *Building a grad nation: Progress and challenge in raising high school graduation rates. Annual update: 2016.* Baltimore, MD: Civic Enterprises & Johns Hopkins University. http://gradnation.americaspromise.org/report/2016-building-grad-nation-report.
- 42. Allen, J., & Mitchell, S. (2006). *Charter schools: Changing the face of American education today, Part 2: Raising the bar on charter school laws 2006 Ranking and Scorecard,* 92. Washington, DC: The Center for Education Reform.
- 43. Allen, J., & Mitchell, S. (2006). *Charter schools: Changing the face of American education today, Part 2: Raising the bar on charter school laws 2006 Ranking and Scorecard,* 92. Washington, DC: The Center for Education Reform.
- 44. Education Commission of the States (2016). 50-state comparison: Charter schools—Do teachers in a charter school have to be certified? http://ecs.force.com/mbdata/mbquestNB2?rep=CS1525 (accessed 09/06/17).
- 45. Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (2016). Charter school enrollment data annual report. http://www.doe.mass.edu/research/reports/2016/02CharterReport.pdf.
- 46. Woodworth, J. L., Raymond, M. E., Chirbas, K., Gonzalez, M., Negassi, Y., Snow, W., & Van Donge, C. (2015). Online charter school study. Stanford, CA: CREDO, Stanford University.
- 47. DePaoli, J. L., Balfanz, R., & Bridgeland, J. (2016). *Building a grad nation: Progress and challenge in raising high school graduation rates. Annual update: 2016.* Baltimore, MD: Civic Enterprises & Johns Hopkins University. http://gradnation.americaspromise.org/report/2016-building-grad-nation-report.
- 48. Massachusetts Charter Schools. Enrollment Policy and Practice. (updated September 2016). http://www. doe.mass.edu/charter/guidance/2016-3-faq.html?display=all.
- 49. Miron, G., Urschel, J. L., Mathis, W, J., & Tornquist, E. (2010). *Schools without diversity: Education management organizations, charter schools and the demographic stratification of the American school system.* Boulder, CO and Tempe, AZ: Education and the Public Interest Center, University of Colorado, Boulder & Education Policy Research Unit, College of Education, Arizona State University. http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/schools-without-diversity.
- 50. Frankenberg, E., Siegel-Hawley, G., & Wang, J. (2010). *Choice without equity: Charter school segregation and the need for civil rights standards*. Los Angeles, CA: The Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles at UCLA. www.civilrightsproject.ucla.edu.

- 51. Adamson, F., Cook-Harvey, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). *Whose choice? Student experiences and outcomes in the New Orleans school marketplace*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education. https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/publications/pubs/1374; NAACP. (2017). *Quality education for all, one school at a time: Hearing report of the task force on quality education*. Baltimore, MD: Author. https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Task ForceReport final2.pdf.
- 52. See for example, Vazquez Heilig, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Accountability Texas Style: The Progress and Learning of Urban Minority Students in a High-Stakes Testing Context. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *30* (June 2008), 75–110. http://epa.sagepub.com/content/30/2/75.abstract.
- 53. Public Advocates (n.d.) *Unequal access: How some California charter schools illegally restrict enrollment*. San Francisco, CA: Author. http://www.publicadvocates.org/wp-content/uploads/Report-Unequal-Access-080116.pdf.
- 54. Adamson, F., Cook-Harvey, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). *Whose choice? Student experiences and outcomes in the New Orleans school marketplace*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education. https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/publications/pubs/1374.
- 55. Adamson, F., Cook-Harvey, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). *Whose choice? Student experiences and outcomes in the New Orleans school marketplace*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education. https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/publications/pubs/1374.
- 56. NAACP. (2017). *Quality education for all, one school at a time: Hearing report of the task force on quality education.* Baltimore, MD: Author. https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Task_ForceReport_final2.pdf.
- 57. National Conference of State Legislatures. (n.d.) School vouchers. http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/school-choice-vouchers.aspx.
- 58. EdChoice (n.d.) School Choice: John. M. McKay Scholarships for Students with Disabilities program. https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/programs/florida-john-m-mckay-scholarships-for-studentswith-disabilities-program/.
- 59. Wixom, M. A. (2017). *Policy analysis: Voucher programs*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/ec-content/uploads/Voucher-Programs.pdf.
- 60. Ford, C., Johnson, S., & Partelow, K. (2017). *The racist origins of private school vouchers*. Washington, DC: Center for American Progress. https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2017/07/12184850/ VoucherSegregation-brief2.pdf.
- Egalite, A. J., & Wolf, P. J. (2016). A review of the empirical research on private school choice. *Peabody Journal of Education, 91*(4). http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0161956X.2016.1207436?src=recsys; Ford, C., Johnson, S., & Partelow, K. (2017). *The racist origins of private school vouchers*. Washington, DC: Center for American Progress. https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2017/07/12184850/ VoucherSegregation-brief2.pdf.
- 62. For a summary of a number of these studies, see Egalite, A. J., & Wolf, P. J. (2016). A review of the empirical research on private school choice. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *91*(4). http://www.tandfonline. com/doi/full/10.1080/0161956X.2016.1207436?src=recsys.
- 63. Dynarski, M. (2016). On negative effects of vouchers. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution. https:// www.brookings.edu/research/on-negative-effects-of-vouchers/. Two studies have examined the effects of vouchers in Louisiana: Abdulkdiroglu, A., Pathak, P. A., & Walters, C. R. (2015). School vouchers and student achievement: Evidence from the Louisiana Scholarship Program. NBER Working Paper 21839. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, and Mills; J. N., & Wolf, P. J. (2016). The effects of the Louisiana Scholarship Program on student achievement after two years. Fayetteville, AR: University of Arkansas Department of Education Reform. For Indiana, see Waddington, J., & Berends, M. (n.d.). Vouchers in the crossroads: Heterogeneous impacts on student achievement and attendance across private schools in Indiana. Washington, DC: Georgetown University School of Public Policy. https://www. future-ed.org/work/vouchers-in-the-crossroads-heterogeneous-impacts-on-student-achievement-andattendance-across-private-schools-in-indiana/. For Washington, DC, see Dynarski, M., Rui, N., Webber, A., & Gutmann, B. (2015). Evaluation of the DC Opportunity Scholarship Program: Impacts after one year (NCEE 2017-4022). Washington, DC: National Center on Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.

- 64. Abdulkdiroglu, A., Pathak, P. A., & Walters, C. R. (2015). *School vouchers and student achievement: Evidence from the Louisiana Scholarship Program*. NBER Working Paper 21839. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 65. Egalite, A. J. (2014a). Choice program design and school supply. In McShane, M. Q. (Ed.), *New and Better Schools: The Supply Side of School Choice*, 163–184. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- 66. Greenberg, S. (2016). Who itemizes deductions? Washington, DC: Tax Foundation. https://taxfoundation. org/who-itemizes-deductions/.
- 67. EdChoice (n.d.) School choice: Alabama Accountability Act of 2013. https://www.edchoice.org/ school-choice/programs/alabama-accountability-act-of-2013-parent-taxpayer-refundable-tax-credits/.
- 68. EdChoice (n.d.) School choice: What is a tax-credit scholarship? https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/types-of-school-choice/tax-credit-scholarship/.
- 69. EdChoice (n.d.) School choice: What is a tax-credit scholarship? https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/types-of-school-choice/tax-credit-scholarship/.
- 70. Badertscher, N. (2009, August 10). Private school tuition loophole exploited. *Atlanta Journal-Constitution*. http://www.ajc.com/news/local/private-school-tuition-loophole-exploited/kK6CxtKV9kow69Q4uGuMFP/.
- EdChoice (n.d.) School choice: What is an Education Savings Account? https://www.edchoice.org/ school-choice/types-of-school-choice/education-savings-account/.
- 72. Egalite, A. J., & Wolf, P. J. (2016). A review of the empirical research on private school choice. *Peabody Journal of Education, 91*(4). http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0161956X.2016.1207436?src=recsys.
- 73. EdChoice (n.d.) School choice: What is an Education Savings Account? https://www.edchoice.org/ school-choice/types-of-school-choice/education-savings-account/.
- Redford, J., Battle, D., & Bielick, S. (2017). *Homeschooling in the United States: 2012* (NCES 2016-096). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016096rev.pdf.
- Redford, J., Battle, D., & Bielick, S. (2017). *Homeschooling in the United States: 2012* (NCES 2016-096). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016096rev.pdf.
- Redford, J., Battle, D., & Bielick, S. (2017). *Homeschooling in the United States: 2012* (NCES 2016-096). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016096rev.pdf.
- 77. Wixom, M. A. (2015). *State homeschool policies: A patchwork of provisions*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States. http://www.ecs.org/clearinghouse/01/20/42/12042.pdf.
- 78. Coalition for Responsible Homeschooling (2014). *Getting started homeschooling: A guide*. Canton, MA: Author. www.responsiblehomeschooling.org/getting-started-homeschooling. (accessed 06/26/17).
- 79. Wixom, M. A. (2015). *State homeschool policies: A patchwork of provisions*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States. http://www.ecs.org/clearinghouse/01/20/42/12042.pdf.
- 80. Lines, P. (2000). When home schoolers go to school: A partnership between families and schools. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *75*(1–2): 159–186.
- 81. Belfield, C. (2002). The characteristics of home schoolers who take the SAT (Occasional Paper No. 62) New York: National Center for the Study of Privatization in Education, Teachers College, Columbia University. See also, Coalition for Responsible Home Education. https://www.responsiblehomeschooling. org/homeschooling-101/academic-achievement/. https://www.responsiblehomeschooling.org/ should-we-be-concerned-about-low-homeschool-sat-taking/# ftnref5.
- 82. Pennings, R., Sikkink, D., Wiens, K. L., Seel, J., Neven Van Pelt, D. A. (2011). *Do the motivations for private religious Catholic and Protestant schooling in North America align with graduate outcomes?* Cardus Education Survey: Phase I Report. Hamilton, ON: Cardus; Pennings, R., Sikkink, D., Van Pelt, D., Van Brummelen, H., & Von Heyking, A. (2012). *A rising tide lifts all boats: Measuring non-government school effects in service of the Canadian public good*. Cardus Education Survey: Phase II Report. Hamilton, ON: Cardus.

- 83. Martin-Chang, S., Gould, O. N., & Meuse, R. E. (2011). The Impact of schooling on academic achievement: Evidence from homeschooled and traditionally schooled children. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 43(3), 195–202.
- 84. Robertson, C. (2011, February 3). New Orleans shrank after Hurricane Katrina, census shows. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2011/02/04/us/04census.html.
- 85. Harris, D. (2015). Good news for New Orleans. *Education Next*, *15*(4). http://educationnext.org/good-news-new-orleans-evidence-reform-student-achievement/.
- 86. Sacerdote, B. (2012). When the saints go marching out: Long-term outcomes for student evacuees from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, *4*(1).
- 87. CREDO (2013). Charter school performance in Louisiana, pp. 14–30. Stanford, CA: Hoover Institution.
- 88. Lopez, F., & Olson, A. as reported in Heilig, J. V. (2015). *Should Louisiana and the Recovery School District receive accolades for being last and nearly last?* Network for Public Education.
- 89. National Center for Education Statistics (2016). *Digest of education statistics: 2015*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d15/ch_2.asp.
- NAACP. (2017). Quality education for all, one school at a time: Hearing report of the task force on quality education. Baltimore, MD: Author. https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ Task_ForceReport_final2.pdf.
- 91. NAACP. (2017). *Quality education for all, one school at a time: Hearing report of the task force on quality education*. Baltimore, MD: Author. https://www.naacp.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Task ForceReport final2.pdf.
- 92. Darling-Hammond, L., Bae, S., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Lam, L., Mercer, C., Podolsky, A., & Stosich, E. L. (2016). *Pathways to new accountability through the Every Student Succeeds Act*. Palo Alto, CA: Learning Policy Institute. http://learningpolicyinstitute.org/our-work/publications-resources/ pathways-new-accountability-every-student-succeeds-act.
- 93. Aragon, S. (2015). *Questions to consider when creating or modifying charter school laws*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States.
- 94. Aragon, S. (2015). *Questions to consider when creating or modifying charter school laws*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States.
- 95. Aragon, S. (2015). *Questions to consider when creating or modifying charter school laws*. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States.
- 96. Huerta, L., Shafer, S. R., Rice, J. K., & Nitkin, D. (2017). *Virtual schools in the U.S., 2017.* Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center. See Section III: Key policy issues in virtual schools: Finance and governance, instructional quality, and teacher quality.
- 97. Dewey, J. (1907). The School and Social Progress. Chapter 1 in *The School and Society*, 19–44. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

About the Authors

Linda Darling-Hammond is President of the Learning Policy Institute and Charles E. Ducommun Professor of Education Emeritus at Stanford University. She is former President of the American Educational Research Association and a member of the National Academy of Education and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences. She has authored more than 500 publications and has conducted extensive research on issues of school reform, equity, and accountability. Among her most recent publications are *Be the Change: Reinventing School for Student Success* and *Empowered Educators: How High-Performing Systems Shape Teaching Quality Around the World*.

Robert Rothman is a Senior Editor at the National Center on Education and the Economy and a consultant to the Learning Policy Institute. Previously, he was a Senior Fellow at the Alliance for Excellent Education, a Senior Editor at the Annenberg Institute for School Reform, and a Study Director at the National Research Council. A nationally known education writer and editor, Rothman has worked with Achieve and was a reporter and editor for Education Week. He has published extensively on education issues, including as the author of *Something in Common: The Common Core Standards and the Next Chapter in American Education* (2011) and as the editor of *City Schools* (2007).

Peter W. Cookson, Jr. co-leads the Learning Policy Institute's Equitable Resources and Access team and provides leadership for several equity initiatives. In addition to teaching sociology at Georgetown University, he co-leads the National Poverty Study, which is a joint research project of Stanford University, Johns Hopkins University, and the American Institutes for Research. Cookson began his career as a caseworker in New York City and as a teacher in rural Massachusetts. Most recently, he was Managing Director of the think tank Education Sector and founded The Equity Project at the American Institutes for Research. He is the author of 16 books and numerous articles on education and inequality, social stratification, school choice, and 21st-century education.



1530 Page Mill Road, Suite 200 Palo Alto, CA 94304 p: 650.332.9797

1301 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 500 Washington, DC 20036 p: 202.830.0079 @LPI_Learning | learningpolicyinstitute.org

The Learning Policy Institute conducts and communicates independent, high-quality research to improve education policy and practice. Working with policymakers, researchers, educators, community groups, and others, the Institute seeks to advance evidence-based policies that support empowering and equitable learning for each and every child. Nonprofit and nonpartisan, the Institute connects policymakers and stakeholders at the local, state, and federal levels with the evidence, ideas, and actions needed to strengthen the education system from preschool through college and career readiness.